THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

RECEIVED

Feb 02 2022

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Dorchester County  
Court of Common Pleas

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2020-CP-18-01027  
Appellate Case No. 2021-000594

---

Paulette Walker  
as Personal Representative of the Estate of Albert Walker,

Respondent,

v.

Hallmark Longterm Care, LLC  
d/b/a Hallmark Healthcare Center  
and Durena Stinson,

Defendants,

Of whom Hallmark Longterm Care, LLC  
d/b/a Hallmark Healthcare Center is

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Kate Mettler  
40 Calhoun Street  
Ste 300  
Charleston SC 29402

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in denying the Facility’s<sup>1</sup> motion to compel Plaintiff’s<sup>2</sup> claims to arbitration?<sup>3</sup>**
- A. Did the court err in not finding that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable based on agency, i.e., in not finding that Mrs. Walker<sup>4</sup> validly signed the Arbitration Agreement on Mr. Walker’s<sup>5</sup> behalf as his lawful agent acting with actual and/or apparent authority?**
- B. Assuming, *arguendo*, that Mrs. Walker was not acting as Mr. Walker’s lawful agent when she signed the Arbitration Agreement on his behalf, did the court err in not finding that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable based on express and/or implied ratification?**
- C. Is the court’s merger/equitable estoppel analysis erroneous?**
- 1. Did the court err in not finding (a) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (b) that, because Mr. Walker effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff should be estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith?<sup>6</sup>**

---

<sup>1</sup> The “Facility” is Defendant/Appellant, Hallmark Longterm Care, LLC, d/b/a Hallmark Healthcare Center. It is a skilled nursing facility in Dorchester County.

<sup>2</sup> “Plaintiff” is Plaintiff/Respondent, Paulette Walker, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Albert Walker.

<sup>3</sup> Out of an abundance of caution, to be clear, this issue, and the corresponding argument, challenges the circuit court’s ruling both on the Facility’s principal motion and on its subsequent motion under Rule 59(e), SCRPC.

<sup>4</sup> “Mrs. Walker” refers to Paulette Walker in her individual capacity.

<sup>5</sup> “Mr. Walker” refers to the decedent, Albert Walker, Mrs. Walker’s late husband.

<sup>6</sup> This issue, and the corresponding argument, includes, without limitation, the court’s use of the wrong test for equitable estoppel.

2. Did the court err in finding that “the FAA<sup>7]</sup> does not apply”?
  3. Did the court err in relying on a “presumption against arbitration” that violates the FAA’s “equal footing” rule?
  4. Did the court err in (a) incorrectly stating that “a review of the admissions and arbitration documents by the [Facility] would have informed them that [Mrs.] Walker did not have actual authority by way of a Durable Power of Attorney, nor Court Appointed Guardianship to bind [Mr.] Walker, nor did she ever indicate that she had any apparent authority to enter contracts on behalf of Mr. Walker,” and (b) violating the FAA’s “equal footing” rule by charging the Facility with a heightened duty to determine the existence or scope of Mrs. Walker’s authority that does not exist under South Carolina’s general contract law while disregarding such law in respect of (i) the legal significance of Mrs. Walker’s act of signing the Arbitration Agreement and/or (ii) Mrs. Walker’s duty of good faith and fair dealing?
- D. Out of an abundance of caution, assuming, *arguendo*, it actually made any such findings, did the court err in denying arbitration on the basis that (1) Plaintiff’s claims are outside the scope of the Arbitration Agreement and/or that the Arbitration Agreement is (2) lacking in consideration, (3) lacking in material terms, and/or (4) unconscionable?
- E. Out of an abundance of caution, assuming, *arguendo*, this might be material, did the court err in referring to both the Facility *and Ms. Stinson*<sup>8</sup> as movants?

---

<sup>7</sup> The “FAA” refers to the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C §§ 1–16.

<sup>8</sup> “Ms. Stinson” is the other named defendant, Durena Stinson, who is not a party to this appeal.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

With the help of his wife, Mrs. Walker, Mr. Walker was admitted to the Facility on January 2, 2019. (*See* R. pp. 141-152.; R. p. 27, ¶ 28; R. p. 58, ¶ 28.) In conjunction with Mr. Walker’s admission to the Facility, Mrs. Walker signed an Admission Agreement<sup>9</sup> and an Arbitration Agreement<sup>10</sup> on his behalf. By her signature on the Arbitration Agreement, Mrs. Walker expressly “represent[ed] that . . . she ha[d] the authority to sign on [Mr. Walker’s] behalf so as to bind [Mr. Walker] as well as [herself].” (R. p. 98.)

This action was commenced on July 7, 2020, in the Court of Common Pleas, Dorchester County. (*See* R. pp. 20-40.) At that time, Mr. Walker was alive, and Mrs. Walker brought the suit as his attorney-in-fact. (*See* R. pp. 20-40.)

The Facility timely answered, subject to and without waiving its right to compel the matter to arbitration, denying the material allegations against it and raising a number of affirmative defenses. (*See* R. pp. 41-50.)

Following Mr. Walker’s death, the current Plaintiff (Mrs. Walker as personal representative of Mr. Walker’s estate) was substituted in place of the original plaintiff (Mrs. Walker as Mr. Walker’s attorney-in-fact),<sup>11</sup> and on December 29, 2020, filed the operative complaint in the case, asserting a number of claims

---

<sup>9</sup> (R. pp. 141-152.)

<sup>10</sup> (R. p. 98.)

<sup>11</sup> (R. pp. 1-4.)

against the Facility for damages based on allegedly deficient care/treatment Mr. Walker received during his residency. (*See R. pp. 52-67.*)

The Facility timely answered, again subject to and without waiving its right to compel this matter to arbitration, denying the material allegations against it and raising a number of affirmative defenses. (*See R. pp. 68-78*)

Based on the Arbitration Agreement Mrs. Walker signed for Mr. Walker, the Facility moved to compel Plaintiff's claims to arbitration (the "Motion to Compel Arbitration"). (*R. pp. 95-104; see also R. pp. 105-140, 98, 141-185.*)

The circuit court heard the Motion to Compel Arbitration on February 8, 2021, the Honorable Maite Murphy presiding. (*See generally R. pp. 79-94.*) It denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration by order filed March 19, 2021. (*R. pp. 5-16.*) Pursuant to Rule 59(e), on March 29, 2021, the Facility timely moved the court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider the decision. (*R. pp. 194-214.*) Plaintiff filed a response in opposition on April 6, 2021. (*R. pp. 215-217.*) The court then denied the motion by order filed May 5, 2021. (*R. pp. 17-19.*)

By notice served June 4, 2021, this appeal timely follows. (*See R. pp. 218-223.*)

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A circuit court's determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). "Under de novo review, a circuit court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings." *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the lower court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within trial court's discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem'l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration.**

#### **A. The court erred in not finding that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable based on agency, i.e., in not finding that Mrs. Walker validly signed the Arbitration Agreement on Mr. Walker's behalf as his lawful agent acting with actual and/or apparent authority.**

A true agency relationship may be established by evidence of actual or apparent authority. *R & G Const., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg'l Transp. Auth.*, 343 S.C. 424, 432, 540 S.E.2d 113, 117 (Ct. App. 2000). “Agency is the fiduciary relationship that arises when one person (a ‘principal’) manifests assent to another person (an ‘agent’) that the agent shall act on the principal's behalf and subject to the principal's control.” *Froneberger v. Smith*, 406 S.C. 37, 49, 748 S.E.2d 625, 631 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting Restatement (Third) of Agency § 1.01 (2006)). “An agreement may result in the creation of an agency relationship although the parties did not call it an agency and did not intend the consequences of the relationship to follow. Agency may be proved by circumstantial evidence showing a course of dealing between the two parties.” *Peoples Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Myrtle Beach Golf & Yacht Club*, 310 S.C. 132, 145–46, 425 S.E.2d 764, 773 (Ct. App. 1992). The doctrine of apparent authority provides that a principal may be bound by the acts of its agent when the principal has placed the agent in a position such that third parties are reasonably led to believe the agent has certain authority and

they in turn deal with the agent in reliance on this manifestation. *Eadie v. H.A. Sack Co.*, 322 S.C. 164, 171, 470 S.E.2d 397, 401 (Ct. App. 1996).

“When a principal, by any such acts or conduct, has knowingly caused or permitted another to appear to be his agent, either generally or for a particular purpose, he will be estopped to deny such agency to the injury of third persons who have in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable prudence dealt with the agent on the faith of such appearances.” *R & G Const.*, 343 S.C. at 433, 540 S.E.2d at 118 (Ct. App. 2000).

Plaintiff admits that Mr. Walker had contractual capacity at the time of his admission to the Facility. (R. p. 87:2–16 ([Plaintiff’s counsel:] “Mr. Walker was admitted to the facility on January the 2<sup>nd</sup> of 2019. When he went in there was no issues with his cognitive impairment. He did not have any altered mental status or anything like that that would prohibit him from signing any admissions paperwork or arbitration agreements. . . . Mr. Walker certainly could have signed the admission agreement. He certainly could have signed the arbitration agreement. There was nothing that kept him from writing his name on any of that sort of stuff.”).) Moreover, Plaintiff admits that two weeks after he was admitted to the Facility, on January 16, 2019, Mr. Walker duly executed a power of attorney that “gave [Mrs. Walker] the authority to do a very broad number of things,” including

the authority to bind him to arbitration,<sup>12</sup> which is, of course, something that he could not have done without contractual capacity.<sup>13</sup> And records reflect that Mr. Walker was present when Mrs. Walker, representing to the Facility her authority to do so without any evidence of objection from Mr. Walker, signed the admissions paperwork, including the Arbitration Agreement. (*See* R. pp. 153-154 (designating Mrs. Walker as the “Representative” and “Responsible Party” for Mr. Walker).)

The circuit court should have found that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable because Mrs. Walker validly signed it on Mr. Walker’s behalf as his lawful agent acting with actual and/or apparent authority.

**B. Assuming, *arguendo*, that Mrs. Walker was not acting as Mr. Walker’s lawful agent when she signed the Arbitration Agreement on his behalf, the court erred in not finding that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable based on express and/or implied ratification.**

Authority can be supplied to an agent retroactively by express or implied ratification. *See Brazell Bros. Contractors v. Hill*, 245 S. C. 69, 74, 138 S.E.2d 835, 837 (1964) (“Ratification, as the term implies, is the adoption by one person of an act done or bargain made for him by another under such circumstances that he would not have been bound but for his subsequent assent.”). “Ratification, as it

---

<sup>12</sup> (R. pp. 88:19–89:5; *see also* R. pp. 169-180.)

<sup>13</sup> Indeed, Plaintiff admits that were Mr. Walker to have executed the power of attorney before he was admitted to the Facility, instead of two weeks thereafter, the Arbitration Agreement (signed by Mrs. Walker on his behalf) would be valid and enforceable. (R. pp. 88:23–89:4.)

relates to the law of agency, may be defined as the express or implied adoption and confirmation by one person of an act or contract performed or entered into on his behalf by another who at the time assumed to act as his agent.” *Fuller v. E. Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 240 S. C. 75, 89, 124 S.E.2d 602, 608 (1962). It is not necessary for a principal to be present at the time of the commission of his agent’s act in order for him to ratify that act. *See State v. Waldrop*, 73 S. C. 60, 52 S.E. 793, 795 (1905) (“The presiding judge ruled that he could ratify the act of the agent, whether he was present or not, and in this we see no error.”).

Again, Plaintiff admits that Mr. Walker had contractual capacity when he was admitted to the Facility on January 2, 2019,<sup>14</sup> and as of at least January 16, 2019, when he executed the power of attorney, under which Mrs. Walker was in fact granted authority to bind Mr. Walker to arbitration. (R. pp. 88:19–89:5; *see also* R. pp. 169-180.) And besides reflecting Mr. Walker’s presence when, without any evidence of objection from Mr. Walker, Mrs. Walker exercised her represented authority by signing the Arbitration Agreement and other admissions paperwork on his behalf, records also reflect Mr. Walker’s presence at other times between January 2<sup>nd</sup> and January 16<sup>th</sup>, 2019, when Mrs. Walker likewise acted on his behalf to communicate his needs and decisions to the Facility. (*See* R. p. 155 (January 8, 2019, note stating that “[Mr. Walker] & his RR desire for Mr. Walker to be a Full

---

<sup>14</sup> (R. p. 87:2–16.)

Code status”); R. p. 156 (January 11, 2019, noted stating that “Family is very involved in [Mr. Walker’s] care.”).) Moreover, from January 16, 2019, onward, i.e., going forward from the time that Mrs. Walker stepped into Mr. Walker’s shoes via the power of attorney, there is no evidence that Mrs. Walker ever repudiated or otherwise acted inconsistent with the adoption and confirmation of the Arbitration Agreement other admissions paperwork she had signed on Mr. Walker’s behalf.

Assuming, *arguendo*, Mrs. Walker was not acting as Mr. Walker’s lawful agent when she signed the Arbitration Agreement on his behalf, the circuit court should have found that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable based on express and/or implied ratification.

**C. The court’s merger/equitable estoppel analysis is erroneous.**

- 1. The court erred in not finding (a) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (b) that, because Mr. Walker effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff should be estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith.**

First off, to be clear, the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument is not, strictly speaking, an argument for the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement but rather an argument for Plaintiff to be estopped to deny its enforceability. In short, the idea is that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged, and Mr. Walker having effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff is estopped to deny

the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith. Accordingly, in the face of this argument, which, again, turns not on the question of whether the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable but whether Plaintiff is estopped to deny its enforceability, any contrary argument/analysis regarding the Arbitration Agreement's supposed lack of enforceability—e.g., that, under the common law of/relating to agency<sup>15</sup> and/or under the South Carolina Adult Health Care Consent Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-66-10 to -80, and/or under the South Carolina Bill of Rights for Residents of Long-Term Care Facilities, S.C. Code. Ann. §§ 44-81-10 to -70,<sup>16</sup> and/or because Mrs. Walker did not hold power of attorney, guardianship, or conservatorship over Mr. Walker,<sup>17</sup> Mrs. Walker lacked authority to sign the Arbitration Agreement on behalf of Mr. Walker—is beside the point and unavailing to refute it.

### **Re: Merger**

South Carolina recognizes numerous theories under which a nonsignatory can be bound to an arbitration agreement. *See Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (“South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind

---

<sup>15</sup> (*See, e.g.*, R. p. 7 (“Like any contract, the agreement must be valid to be enforceable, signed by the parties who had the express and legal authority to do so.”); R. pp. 10-11 (regarding actual or apparent authority).)

<sup>16</sup> (*See, e.g.*, R. pp. 9-10 (regarding statutory authority).)

<sup>17</sup> (*See, e.g.*, R. p. 5 (“[Ms.] Walker did not have legal authority to contractually bind her husband to arbitration, by way of a Power of Attorney nor any Court appointed Guardianship.”).)

nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including (1) incorporation by reference, (2) assumption, (3) agency, (4) veil piercing/alter ego, and (5) estoppel.”); *see also Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 355, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (acknowledging the possibility of enforcing an arbitration agreement against a nonsignatory via merger and equitable estoppel).

In *Coleman*, even though our Supreme Court found against merger *on the specific facts of the case*, it nonetheless confirmed the validity of the *general proposition of law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the AA under the Act, she is nevertheless equitably estopped to deny the AA’s enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the AAs merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

*Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

*Here, the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.*

407 S.C. at 354–355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

Here, the circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility's merger argument, failing to recognize material differences between the facts and arguments involved in the instant case and those that controlled (or were simply not addressed or otherwise appreciated in) *Coleman* and its progeny, *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016), and *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018).

The court wrongfully concluded that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate contacts that do not merge. (R. p. 13.) The merger question examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”<sup>18</sup> as undoubtedly the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here,<sup>19</sup> there is evidence to upset the *presumption in favor of*

---

<sup>18</sup> *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

<sup>19</sup> To be clear, *Coleman* unequivocally answers the question of whether the instant Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the

*merger*, i.e., the presumption that the contracting parties intended the instruments to be construed together as effectively one contract. This is a question of the parties' intention. *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a contrary *intention . . .*”) (emphasis added). And “in attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties'] intention,” our courts “endeavor to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25. The circuit court's assertion that “multiple executed writings relating to the same general subject matter will not be viewed as a single or merged agreement if either their language or the circumstances *even hint* that the parties actually intended the writings to be distinct, separate contracts”<sup>20</sup> is an incorrect statement of law.

For the merger presumption to mean anything in practice, it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, but only by actual evidence that—notwithstanding the concurrence of all the particular circumstances necessary for the presumption to even arise in the first place (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can nonetheless support a reasonable, non-speculative inference that the parties'

---

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