RECEIVED

Jan 28 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000594

Paulette Walker as Personal
Representative of the Estate of
Albert Walker

.....

Respondent

v.

Hallmark Longterm Care, LLC,
d/b/a Hallmark Healthcare Center
and Durena Stinson,

.....

Defendants.

Of whom Hallmark Longterm Care, LLC,
d/b/a Hallmark Healthcare Center

.....

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

D. Nathan Hughey
A. Stuart Hudson
Bradley H. Banyas
Hughey Law Firm, LLC
Post Office Box 348
Mount Pleasant, SC 29465

Jordan C. Calloway

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

Agreement was not a pre-condition for admission. Appellants' Br. at 16 ("agreeing to arbitration was not required to gain admission to the Facility").

d. The terms and context show the parties intended the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement to be separate contracts.

Third, even if the Facility could show the required authority under the Act and even if the prerequisites to merger were present, the Facility's argument fails because the language and circumstances of the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement show the parties intended they be construed as separate contracts. Coleman, Thompson, and Hodge are the key precedent here because they illustrate the type of contract language or structure showing parties do not intend multiple agreements to be interpreted as one. For example, an arbitration contract does not merge with an admission contract in which a nursing home and its resident chose to insert an "entire agreement" or integration provision (aka "merger clause") limiting its parameters and excluding other writings. Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. Coleman held one such provision proved "on its face" that merger does not apply. Id. Also, admission and arbitration contracts cannot merge if they contain inconsistent terms, especially provisions related to how each contract may be terminated. Id.; Thompson, 416 S.C. at 53, 784 S.E.2d at 685. Moreover, courts look at the way the contracts are structured, finding it is unlikely parties intended two contracts to be treated as one if they chose separate titles, required separate signatures, and numbered each contract's pages differently. Thompson, 416 S.C. at 53 n. 1, 784 S.E.2d at 685 n. 1; Hodge, 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302. Finally, Hodge held a nursing home cannot argue for merger when it chose to separate arbitration and admission into two agreements while taking the position that agreeing to the former was not required to obtain the benefits of the latter. 422 S.C. at 562-63, 813 S.E.2d at 302.

The Facility preemptively dismisses all of these factors, arguing none of them suggest the parties intended the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement stand on their own. (Appellant’s Br. at 14-21). However, by rejecting or discounting these factors, the Facility is arguing against well-established, recent precedent (Coleman, Thompson, and Hodge) without offering the Court any reason why it should so dramatically and quickly reverse course. All four of these factors apply to the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement and provide extensive evidence to support the circuit court’s finding that the contracts do not merge.

i. The Admission Agreement’s “Entire Agreement” provision

The Admission Agreement concludes with an “Entire Agreement” provision identifying the contract’s limited scope. (R. p. 152 § XVIII). Specifically, this provision states “this Agreement represents the entire . . . understanding between the parties.” “Agreement” is capitalized because it is a defined term, which the Admission Agreement’s opening line limits to “THIS ADMISSION AGREEMENT.” (R. p. 141) (emphasis in original). The Facility argues the Admission Agreement’s “Entire Agreement” provision is different than its counterparts in Coleman, Thompson, and Hodge because it does not specifically reference the Arbitration Agreement. (Appellants’ Br. at 9-10). However, the Admission Agreement’s “Entire Agreement” provision is just as probative against merger as those in earlier cases. It specifically limits the contract’s interpretation to the “Agreement” and then defines that term narrowly in a way that does not include the Arbitration Agreement or any other writing. To argue the “Entire Agreement” provision must specifically reference a separate writing to exclude that writing from the common law merger rule is to overlook the fundamental purpose an integration provision serves in a contract. See Palmetto State Sav. Bank of S.C. v. Barr, 293 S.C. 252, 253-54, 359 S.E.2d 531, 532 (Ct. App. 1987) (finding purpose of integration provision is to create “strong implication the whole

intentions of the parties has been expressed” in the writing containing the clause); Wilson v. Landstrom, 281 S.C. 260, 266, 315 S.E.2d 130, 134 (Ct. App. 1984) (citing Armour Fertilizer Works v. Hyman, 120 S.C. 375, 113 S.E. 330 (1922) (the terms of a completely integrated contract “cannot be varied or contradicted by parol evidence of prior or contemporaneous agreements not included in the writing”)).

Plus, there is contract language here that tracks Coleman and progeny almost word for word. In Coleman, the court focused on the fact that the admission contract’s “Entire Agreement” provision referenced “[t]his Agreement . . . and the Arbitration Agreement.” Referencing the two writings distinctly was “the admission agreement’s recognition of the arbitration agreement as a separate document.” Thompson, 416 S.C. at 52, 784 S.E.2d at 684 (citing Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455). Hodge applied the same principle using language from an arbitration contract that referenced an admission contract in distinct terms. 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302. If an arbitration contract explains its scope extends to disputes arising from “this Agreement or the . . . Admission Agreement,” then the parties “recognized a separateness” between the two contracts. Id. The Arbitration Agreement in this case does exactly what Coleman, Thompson, and Hodge identify as proof that defeats the Facility’s merger argument. In describing its term, the Arbitration Agreement states that its effect will continue even after the termination of “this Agreement *or the Admission Agreement*.” (R. p. 98) (emphasis added).

Finally, the Facility hints that the “Entire Agreement” provision supports an Admission Agreement-Arbitration Agreement merger because it incorporates “other Admissions Materials.” Appellants’ Br. at 15-16 (quoting R. p. 152 § XVIII). To the extent the Facility implies the Arbitration Agreement was incorporated by reference into the Admission Agreement, the Facility has offered nothing in either contract to support this conclusion. “Admissions Materials” is not a

defined term and there is nothing to suggest the Arbitration Agreement was intended to be included within it.⁶ Plus, since the Facility admits agreeing to arbitration was not required for admission, it would be counterintuitive to conclude the Arbitration Agreement was an “admissions material.” Thompson rejected a similar argument when a nursing home argued its admission contract’s “entire agreement” provision incorporated a separate arbitration contract by referring broadly to “exhibits.” Since “exhibit” was undefined and not referenced elsewhere in either contract, the term was ambiguous and was interpreted against the nursing home who drafted it. 416 S.C. at 53-54, 784 S.E.2d at 685 (citing Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355-56, 755 S.E.2d at 455).

ii. Inconsistent termination provisions

Two contracts executed at the same time do not merge if they contain inconsistent terms. The parties likely did not intend for the two to be read as one if they chose to, for example, apply different substantive law to the two agreements. Hodge, 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302. Coleman, Thompson, and Hodge made special note of inconsistent provisions in admission and arbitration contracts regarding when each contract may be cancelled at the resident’s urging. Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455; Thompson, 416 S.C. at 53, 784 S.E.2d at 685; Hodge, 422 S.C. at 551, 813 S.E.2d at 296. In each instance, the arbitration contract allowed the resident to disclaim or revoke its provisions within thirty days but the admission contract did not include a similar right. Id. Here, the Arbitration Agreement does not have a disclaimer provision, and the

⁶ Appellant argues this Court previously recognized an arbitration contract is an “admission material.” (Appellant’s Br. at 16) (quoting Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc., 426 S.C. 568, 828 S.E.2d 82 (Ct. App. 2019)). However, Stott actually affirmed a circuit court’s ruling that a nursing home resident’s family member *did not* have authority to bind the resident to arbitration. Id. at 578, 828 S.E.2d at 88. Stott focused on the execution requirements for a durable power of attorney, a matter that is not at issue here. Id. at 576-77, 828 S.E.2d at 86-87.

Facility positions this fact as its primary argument for distinguishing Coleman, Thompson, and Hodge. (Appellants' Br. at 19).

However, the contracts' termination provisions are just as inconsistent here as in those cases. The Arbitration Agreement states that its effect on disputes between the parties would survive even if both the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement are cancelled. (R. p. 98). As structured by the Facility, there does not seem to be any means by which a resident could unilaterally cancel the Arbitration Agreement. The Admission Agreement is very different in that it allows a resident to unilaterally terminate that contract "at any time." (R. p. 146 § IV, ¶ 1). Thus, while the Facility is correct the Arbitration Agreement is technically different than Coleman and progeny because it lacks a disclaimer provision, that distinction makes no difference because the Arbitration Agreement and Admission Agreement still have inconsistent termination provisions that rebut any argument the parties intended these two separate contracts merge into one.

iii. Contract formatting and structure

Thompson and Hodge prove it is not just specific contract language that shows a nursing home and its resident did not intend for admission and arbitration contracts to merge. Intent can be derived from the way a contract is formatted or structured. Rather than adding an arbitration provision to the admission contract or attaching that language as an exhibit, the nursing home in Thompson chose to place it in an entirely separate document with its own, distinct "Arbitration Agreement" label. 416 S.C. at 53 n. 1, 784 S.E.2d at 685 n. 1. That choice was in itself further proof of "the parties' intent for [the arbitration contract] to stand by itself as an independent contract." Id. The Facility did the same here, and the Arbitration Agreement announces itself as a distinctive contract from its very title. Hodge also noted the importance of formatting choices a nursing home makes when constructing its admission and arbitration contracts. 422 S.C. at 562,

813 S.E.2d at 302. An arbitration contract looks more and more like its own independent document if entering it requires a separate signature than the admission contract and the documents have separate pagination. Id. Here, the Admission Agreement required separate signatures and signaled its separateness as it ran from page 1 to 12 while the Arbitration Agreement was on its own separate single page.

iv. Admission is not dependent on Arbitration Agreement

The Facility's merger argument is also rebutted by its admissions. The purported interaction between two separate contracts can be judged not only by their language but also by how their parties treat each contract. An arbitration contract is far less likely to merge with an admission contract if the nursing home admits arbitration is not required for admission. The Facility argues the fact that admission does not depend on consent to arbitrate somehow supports merger. (Appellants' Br. at 16-17). But, in Hodge, this Court cited as further evidence against merger an arbitration contract provision stating that arbitration was not a precondition to a resident's acceptance into the nursing home. 422 S.C. at 562-63, 813 S.E.2d at 302. Similarly, the Facility does not treat the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement as if they are interdependent or even as related to the same purpose. The Facility admits that executing the Arbitration Agreement was not mandatory and not a precondition to admission. Appellants' Br. at 16.

In sum, the Arbitration Agreement and Admission Agreement have the same four indicators South Carolina courts have cited in the past to find simultaneously-executed contracts were not intended to merge into one. Moreover, contrary to the Facility's arguments, any uncertainty about these four indicators must be resolved in Respondent/Mr. Walker's favor, not to their detriment. The Facility argues merger is the default position and must be applied absent an

affirmative showing of contrary intent. (Appellants' Br. at 14-15). But, that argument overlooks key holdings from Coleman. First, while the Facility several times refers to a "presumption" of merger, South Carolina courts have never presumed merger of any two contracts. Nowhere in Coleman, Thompson, and Hodge does a court refer to a merger "presumption" for nursing home admission and arbitration contracts. In fact, neither does the case Coleman cite in support of the merger doctrine. 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (citing Klutts, 268 S.C. at 88, 232 S.E.2d at 24). There is simply no textual support for the notion that the court should "presume" merger applies.

Second, even if merger was a presumption, it is an easily rebuttable one because "*anything* indicating a contrary intention" means a court will not apply merger. 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (quoting Klutts, 268 S.C. at 88, 232 S.E.2d at 24) (emphasis added). Thus, the Facility's task on appeal is not to successfully oppose one of the four indicators discussed above but to prove all four are absent here. Third, since the Facility drafted these form contracts of adhesion, any ambiguities must be construed against it. The Facility argues that applying the ambiguity rule here "makes no sense" (Appellants' Br. at 20), but does not acknowledge the Facility's argument effectively asks the Court to reverse its own ruling on the issue and to overrule Supreme Court precedent. Coleman applied the "presumption against drafter" rule to a nursing home's quibbles over the effect of an "entire agreement" clause, and Thompson used it to reject a nursing home's argument that an arbitration contract was incorporated into an admission contract. Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455; Thompson, 416 S.C. at 53-54; 784 S.E.2d at 685.

Accordingly, the Facility's merger argument is flawed not only in the specific ways described above but also in its very conception of when and how the merger doctrine operates. The

circuit court properly applied extensive South Carolina law in this field and rejected the Facility's contention that the Arbitration Agreement and Admission Agreement merged.

4. Respondent is not equitably estopped from opposing arbitration.

Mr. Walker did not sign the Arbitration Agreement or authorize anyone to sign for him. Yet, the Facility argues South Carolina Supreme Court precedent suggests Mr. Walker/Respondent are equitably estopped from opposing arbitration. (Appellants' Br. at 21-23) (citing Wilson). However, the Facility does not cite or attempt to apply the elements of equitable estoppel imposed by South Carolina law.⁷ Plus, Wilson actually refused to compel arbitration against a non-signatory, holding there is a presumption *against* forcing someone to arbitrate based on a contract he did not sign. 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 173. Wilson even went on record to say equitable estoppel is rarely appropriate to force arbitration. Id. at 345, 827 S.E.2d at 177 (finding equitable estoppel "should be used sparingly"). Finally, as this Court recently reaffirmed in Weaver, the Facility cannot meet the "direct benefits" test considered in Wilson because Mr. Walker's claims

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